THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

DeAndra Gist Benjamin, Fifth Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001536

Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC,
And Patrick Charping,

Respondents,

v.

Justin Ludy and First Community Corporation d/b/a,
First Community Bank,

Appellants,

Of whom Justin Ludy is the Appellant.

RECEIVED
MAY 13 2019
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Wesley D. Few, LLC
Post Office Box, 9398
Greenville, SC 29604
(864) 527-5906
wes@wesleyfew.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT JUSTIN LUDY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting in part and denying in part a motion to dismiss or stay and compel arbitration. The gist of the underlying action is a partner / member dispute over the LLC-entity, Plaintiff / Respondent Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC.

The lower court order being appealed granted Appellant's motion to compel arbitration with respect to Plaintiff / Respondent Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC's claims 1 and 2, namely [Claim 1] as a "Derivative Claim for Breach of Fiduciary Duty," and [Claim 2] as another "Derivative Claim for Aiding and Abetting a Breach of Fiduciary Duty." (R. pp. 4). Appellant's motion to dismiss or stay and compel arbitration was denied as it related to Plaintiffs / Respondents' claims 3, 4 and 5, respectively Plaintiff / Respondent Charping's [Claim 3] for "Civil Conspiracy," and [Claim 4] for "Defamation Against Ludy," and Plaintiffs' / Respondents' [Claim 5] for "Appointment of Receiver, Accounting and Judicial Dissolution" (R. pp. 4).

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On or about October 13, 2014, Plaintiff / Respondent Patrick Charping ("Respondent Charping") and Defendant / Appellant Justin Ludy ("Appellant" or "Ludy") executed the Operating Agreement for Plaintiff / Respondent Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC ("Respondent PWE") (R. pp. 240-255). Ludy had already formed and operated the business, and Charping was coming in as a new partner in 2014. The Operating Agreement ("Agreement") provided for ownership on a 50/50 basis, however, Ludy maintained a 51% "Governance Interest," as shown in *Exhibit A* to the Agreement. (R. pp. 107). Additionally, the Agreement provided at Section 12.14, as follows:

12.14. Arbitration. Any controversy or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, shall be settled, except as may otherwise be provided herein, by binding arbitration in accordance with South Carolina Code Sections 15-48-10, et. seq. and the arbitration award may be entered as a final judgment in any court having jurisdiction thereon. Any dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding. Legal costs, attorneys' fees, and the fees of expert witnesses may be assessed against any person found to have acted in bad faith. All arbitration proceedings shall be conducted by a panel of three arbitrators. The party requesting arbitration shall have the right to select one arbitrator and the person or persons on the other side of the controversy shall select a second arbitrator. The two arbitrators so chosen shall select the third.

(R. pp. 160, 249). (underlining emphasis added).

Plaintiffs' filed the underlying action on May 10, 2017 (R. pp. 40-54). Defendant / Appellant Ludy filed his motion to dismiss or stay and compel arbitration on June 6, 2017 (R. pp. 92-110). A hearing on the motion was apparently delayed due to some confusion about whether or not the case had been sent to the Business Court. As a result of that apparent confusion, the motion was not set for a hearing until January 3, 2018, which was then delayed further due to the weather that day (*i.e.*, snow). The arbitration motion was then heard on March 1, 2018. On March 5, 2018, the lower court issued a Form 4 advising the motion was "under advisement."

On June 21, 2018, the lower court issued its order granting in part and denying in part the motion to compel arbitration 2017 (R. pp. 1-5). On June 30, 2018, Appellant filed a motion to reconsider, which was denied by an order dated July 23, 2018 (R. pp. 6-8).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An "Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review." *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 631, 611 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 2005).

ARGUMENT

This appeal presents two questions:

1. Whether the lower court erred in not addressing the Parties Agreement which expressly provided “[a]ny dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding”?
2. Whether the lower court erred in finding that Plaintiffs’ / Respondents’ Claims 3, 4 and 5 were not related to the Parties’ Operating Agreement?

The Circuit Court erred in not addressing the parties’ Agreement providing that “any dispute” about arbitrability would be decided in arbitration. The lower court’s order failed to address this provision in its order or in the order denying the motion for reconsideration.

The lower court’s order denying arbitration of claims 3, 4 and 5 was erroneous and failed to give sufficient analysis of the relatedness of the claims prior to “concluding” the claims were unrelated because claims 3 and 4 were “tort” claims and finding that claim 5 seeking an accounting / dissolution of the LLC entity was not related to the Operating Agreement.

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT ADDRESSING THE FACT THAT THE PARTIES’ ARBITRATION AGREEMENT REQUIRED ISSUES RELATED TO ARBITRABILITY OF CLAIMS TO BE DECIDED BY THE ARBITRATOR.

The lower court’s order fails to address that portion of the parties’ Agreement providing as follows: “Any dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding.” (R. pp.160, 249). Instead, the lower court mostly addressed whether or not Appellant Ludy had waived his right to compel arbitration, then finding he had not. The remainder of the lower court order, consisting of a single paragraph, concluded

that claims 3, 4 and 5 were unrelated to the Operating Agreement, and, therefore, not subject to arbitration under the Agreement. (R. pp. 3-4).

The grounds for this appeal relate to the fact that the lower court order does not address the “relatedness” of the Plaintiff’s three claims (claims 3-5) that were stayed and not compelled to arbitration, and our Supreme Court’s decision in *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 119 (2001), which required even tort claims be arbitrated with the LLC claims. *Id.* (holding “Further, any tort claims between the partners that relate to the partnership agreement are arbitrable.”).

In *MBNA Am. Bank v. Christianson*, 377 S.C. 210, 212-213, 659 S.E.2d 209, 210-211 (Ct. App. 2008), this Court held, “Unless the parties otherwise provide, the question of the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination.” *Id.* (citing *Zabinski*). Here, the above-quoted provision from 12.14 of the Agreement (R. pp. 160, 249) shows the parties / members in the LLC agreed that all disputes regarding arbitration would be submitted to the arbitrator(s).

In *Hinson v. Jusco Co.*, 868 F.Supp. 145 (D.S.C. 1994), the court interpreted the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 3, and stated:

A court asked to stay litigation pending compulsory arbitration must engage in a four-step inquiry:

First, it must determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate; second, it must determine the scope of that agreement; third, if federal statutory claims are asserted, it must consider whether Congress intended those claims to be non-arbitrable; and fourth, if the court concludes that some, but not all, of the claims in the case are arbitrable, it must then determine whether to stay the balance of the proceedings pending arbitration.

Id.

Here, the lower court failed to ascertain the scope of the parties' arbitration agreement and failed entirely to consider that the parties had expressly agreed that "[a]ny dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding," which text also serves to define the scope of the arbitration agreement. (R. pp. 160, 249).

II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY "CONCLUDING" CLAIMS 3, 4 AND 5 WERE "UNRELATED" TO THE PARTIES OPERATING AGREEMENT.

As noted above, the Circuit Court's order concluded as follows with respect to the "unrelatedness" of the Plaintiffs' Claims 3, 4 and 5:

Third, this Court finds that Plaintiffs' causes of action numbers three through five are not subject to arbitration. The Plaintiffs' third cause of action is for Civil Conspiracy. The Plaintiffs' fourth cause of action is for Defamation. The Plaintiffs' fifth cause of action is for Appointment of Receiver, Accounting, and Judicial Dissolution. Plaintiffs' claims for civil conspiracy and defamation are tort claims that do not implicate the parties' contractual agreement and are not subject to arbitration. According to Section 11.1.3 of the parties' agreement, a court must enter a judicial decree dissolving the company pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-801. Thus, Plaintiffs' claim for appointment of receiver, accounting, and judicial dissolution is not subject to arbitration as Section 11.1.3 specifically requires a finding by a court.

(R. pp. 3-4).

That is all the analysis provided by the lower court prior to concluding that claims 3-5 must be decided in a completely separate forum, presumably after the members / parties, go through an arbitration on claims 1 and 2. Additionally, the lower court order fails to address the relatedness of any counterclaims, or third-party claims, or other claims that may arise in amendments to the pleadings or statement of the claims in arbitration.

An analysis of these three claims as plead shows that these claims are not unrelated

claims and relate to the parties relationship as former partners in the entity known as Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC (“PWE”). For example, Charping’s Claim 3 alleging a Civil Conspiracy is based upon facts directly related to the division / running of the LLC. Paragraphs 43 and 44 allege:

43. Defendants Ludy and First Community Bank have conspired and joined together for the purpose of injuring Plaintiff Charping.

44. The actions undertaken jointly by Defendants have resulted in Charping's ouster from Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, thereby causing the dissolution of Palmetto Wildlife Extractors.

(R. pp. 50-51).

Similarly, Charping’s Claim 4, alleging Defamation of Character, is based upon facts directly related to the division / running of the LLC, for example, alleging as follows:

51. Specifically, on April 5, 2017, Ludy sent a text message stating that Charping “has embezzled over \$50,000 from the company he used to be a part of. It's a criminal offense and action is already taken.” This statement is libelous and therefore actionable *per se*.

52. That same day, shortly after removing Plaintiff Charping from Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, Defendant Ludy posted the following on social media: “Three ways to be removed from my life: 1. Steal from me; 2. Lie to Me; 3. Gossip about me.” This statement is defamatory *per quod*; is libelous, and therefore, actionable *per se*.

(R. pp. 50-52).

Most of the times when a dispute exists between partners that results in litigation / arbitration, it can be expected that one partner or the other will have alleged at some point in time that the other took money from the company improperly.

Finally, Charping’s Claim 5 for Accounting / Receivership / Dissolution originates in part from the LLC code itself, and is also related to the Operating Agreement. In support of this

claim, Charping alleges:

57. Plaintiffs Charping and Palmetto Wildlife Extractors seek an order pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-801 dissolving Palmetto Wildlife Extractors on one or more of the following grounds:

- a. another member has engaged in conduct relating to the company's business that makes it not reasonably practicable to carry on: the company's business with that member;
- b. it is not otherwise reasonably practicable to carry on the company's business in conformity with the Articles of organization and the operating agreement; and
- c. the member in control of the company has acted, is acting, or will continue to act in a manner that is unlawful, oppressive, fraudulent, or unfairly prejudicial to Plaintiff Charping.

(R. pp. 52).

Each of the three stayed claims relates to the parties' relationship as former partners in Respondent PWE.

The lower court order fails to address our state's precedent favoring arbitration of claims and that same policy of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 3. *See e.g., General Equipment & Supply Co., Inc. v. Keller Rigging & Const., SC, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 553, 555, 544 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 2001) (stating, "Furthermore, it is the policy of this state to favor arbitration of disputes."); and *Landers v. FDIC*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (holding, "It is the policy of this state and federal law to favor arbitration and 'any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.'"). In *Landers*, our Supreme Court reversed the trial court's order splitting claims that would go into arbitration in a case interpreting an employment contract arbitration provision. *Id.* at 218 (concluding "In conclusion, we reverse the trial court with respect to each of Landers' remaining

four causes of action¹ and hold that each is subject to arbitration.”).

Splitting the claims that will go to arbitration creates confusion amongst the parties and will impede settlement, as one party or the other may believe they will get a better result when the stayed claims come back for a second round of litigation amongst the same parties. Additionally, as noted above, the order fails to address in which forum the pending counterclaims or any added / amended claims will be adjudicated.

Such splitting also creates confusion in the event one of the parties seeks to amend their pleadings during the discovery period, as the proposed amended claims will also be the subject of a dispute between the parties as to whether not they are subject to litigation in the courts or in arbitration. Requiring parties to litigate related disputes in two different forums is also inefficient and contrary to the intent of the state and federal policies favoring arbitration.

To address these types of concerns, the parties agreed in their Operating Agreement as quoted above that, “Any dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding.” (R. pp. 160, 249). Mr. Charping now wishes to ignore those very words that he agreed to when he signed the Operating Agreement.

The Order states that “According to Section 11.1.3 of the parties' agreement, a court must enter a judicial decree dissolving the company pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-801. Thus, Plaintiffs' claim for appointment of receiver, accounting, and judicial dissolution is not subject to arbitration as Section 11.1.3 specifically requires a finding by a court.” (R. pp. 3-4). Appellant would respectfully assert that the above-quoted concern is addressed by the provisions of S.C.