THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-40-02822
Appellate Case No: 2018-001536

RECEIVED

APR 29 2019

SC Court of Appeals
Respondents,

Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC,
And Patrick Charping,

v.

Justin Ludy and First Community Corporation d/b/a
First Community Bank,

Appellants,

Of whom Justin Ludy is the Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
PALMETTO WILDLIFE EXTRACTORS, LLC AND
PATRICK CHARPING**

James M. Griffin
Margaret N. Fox
Griffin Davis, LLC
Post Office Box 999
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 744-0800
jgriffin@griffindavislaw.com
mfox@griffindavislaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY RELY ON THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE OPERATING AGREEMENT IN HOLDING CLAIMS 3, 4, AND 5 WERE NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION?

- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN HOLDING CLAIMS 3, 4, AND 5 ARE NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION, WHEN CLAIMS 3 AND 4 ARE INDEPENDENT OF THE OPERATING AGREEMENT AND CLAIM 5 IS SPECIFICALLY EXCLUDED FROM THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of a dispute between two business partners, Appellant Ludy and Respondent Charping. On April 25, 2017, Ludy filed a complaint against Charping in the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas, C.A. No. 2017-CP-32-01416 (“the Lexington Suit”), seeking, various remedies stemming from the Uniform Limited Liability Company Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-101, et. seq., (the “Act”), including the judicial expulsion and dissociation of Charping from Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC (“Palmetto Wildlife”). (R. 18 §§ 46-47, R. 19 § E). In response, Respondents Charping and Palmetto Wildlife filed the present action on May 10, 2017 seeking the appointment of a receiver, an accounting, and judicial dissolution of Palmetto Wildlife, in addition to other relief. (R. 40-77). Thereafter, Ludy dismissed the Lexington Suit, and filed an Answer to the Verified Complaint and counterclaimed against Plaintiff Charping, reasserting among other claims, those originally raised in the Lexington Suit. (R. 78-91). On June 6, 2017, Appellant Ludy filed a motion to dismiss or stay and compel arbitration of the parties’ claims. On June 29, 2017, Plaintiff Charping moved the Court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10 for an order appointing a receiver for Palmetto Wildlife, and thereafter moved for the case to be assigned to the business court program. (R. 111-123; R. 124-127).

Following Respondents' submission of a brief in opposition to Ludy's motion to compel arbitration, the Court heard argument from the parties. (R. 128-207). Thereafter, the Court issued an order on June 21, 2018 holding Ludy had not waived his right to arbitrate and held Respondent Palmetto Wildlife Extractors' Derivative Claim for breach of Fiduciary Duty (Claim 1) and Derivative Claim for Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty (Claim 2) were subject to arbitration, and thus dismissed. (R. 3). The Court also held the remaining claims for Civil Conspiracy (Claim 3), Defamation (Claim 4), and Appointment of a Receiver, Accounting, and Judicial Dissolution (Claim 5) were not subject to arbitration and thus, stayed pending the arbitration. (R. 3-4).

On, June 20, 2018, Appellant moved the lower court to reconsider its June 21, 2018 order. (R. 208-213). The lower court affirmed its ruling on July 23, 2018. (R. 6-8). Thereafter, Appellant filed a notice of appeal.

FACTS

Effective October 13, 2014, Charping acquired a 50% interest in Palmetto Wildlife from Defendant Ludy in exchange for a capital contribution of \$49,000. (R. 45 ¶ 7; R. 118 ¶ 2). Under the terms of the operating agreement, Charping and Ludy were to share equal control over the financial rights of Palmetto Wildlife. (R. 45 ¶ 8; R. 118 ¶ 2). Ludy was granted a 51% governance interest, which is defined as "all of a Member's rights as a Member in the Company, other than financial rights." (R. 46 ¶ 9; R. 118 ¶ 3).

Despite agreeing to share 50% of all profits from Palmetto Wildlife, since 2015 Ludy has taken in excess of \$126,000 more than Charping from the financial accounts of Palmetto Wildlife. (R. 46 ¶ 10; R. 118 ¶ 4). In fact, Ludy has used Palmetto Wildlife's bank accounts as his own personal accounts, writing checks and withdrawing funds to pay for non-business expenses. (R. 46

¶ 11; R. 118 ¶ 5). These personal expenditures include dues payments to Swinger lifestyle websites, attorneys' fees payments for Ludy's girlfriend's divorce lawyer, payments to Ludy's girlfriend, and payments to start a new business with Ludy's girlfriend. (R. 46-47 ¶¶ 12-15; R. 118 ¶ 5).

By the end of 2015, Charping had enough of Ludy's conduct. As a result, Charping and Ludy amended the operating agreement to establish set salaries for each and to prohibit Ludy from withdrawing money for personal use unless agreed to by Charping. (R. 47 ¶ 16; R. 119 ¶ 6). Nevertheless, Ludy continued using the business account for personal use, withdrawing approximately \$19,347.39 for personal expenses in 2016 and \$3,729.76 in personal expenses during the first quarter of 2017. (R. 47 ¶ 17; R. 119 ¶ 7). In addition, Ludy withdrew \$57,944.92 for tax payments in 2016, whereas Charping only withdrew \$24,197.62 – a difference of \$33,747.30. (R. 47 ¶ 18; R. 119 ¶ 8).

Moreover, whenever Charping would withdraw funds in an effort to start reducing the imbalance in the capital accounts, Ludy would become very agitated, upset, and confrontational. (R. 47 ¶ 19; R. 119 ¶ 9). As early as March 2017, Ludy began restricting Charping's access to monitor the expenses incurred by Palmetto Wildlife. (R. 119 ¶ 9, R. 120-122 ¶12). For example, on March 31, 2017, Ludy removed Charping's administrative access to financial information and customer data within Palmetto Wildlife's QuickBooks software; thereby, preventing him from writing estimates while working, updating financial information on large projects, and communicating with customers regarding the status of their accounts. (R. 120-122 ¶ 12).

In April 2017, Charping took a permissible tax draw of \$32,000 after verifying this amount with Palmetto Wildlife's tax accountant. (R. 47 ¶ 20; R. 119 ¶ 9). Thereafter, Ludy snapped, accused Charping of theft, and blocked Charping's access to Palmetto Wildlife's accounting

software and social media sites. (R. 47 ¶ 21; R. 119 ¶ 9). Furthermore, Ludy and First Community Bank removed Charping from the bank account, preventing him from accessing any funds or viewing any account information. (R. 47 ¶ 22; R. 119-120 ¶¶ 9-10). Subsequently, Ludy failed to make loan payments owed by Palmetto Wildlife that Charping personally guaranteed, thereby harming Charping's credit and exposing him to personal liability. (R. 48 ¶ 23; E. 119-120 ¶ 10). Ludy's failure to make timely payments also negatively impacts the credit history of Palmetto Wildlife. (R. 119-120 ¶ 10).

Following Charping's filing of this suit, Ludy has: (1) continued to miss loan payments of the business guaranteed by Charping, (2) removed Charping from accessing all commercial revolving accounts of the business that are also guaranteed by Charping, (3) removed Charping's access to company financial and scheduling software, customer accounts, and payroll data, (4) refused to distribute Charping's earnings; (5) terminated Charping's employment as of June 16, 2017; (6) changed all of the locks to the Palmetto Wildlife building for which Charping is the sole signor on the lease renewal; and (7) sent Charping self-serving emails and communications containing factually inaccurate statements in an attempt to construct a paper record to presumably defend his improper conduct. (R. 120-122 ¶¶ 12-15).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A lower court's determination as to whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to de novo review. See Gissel v. Hart, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (S.C. 2009). "Nevertheless, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings." Id. (citing Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of South Carolina, 644 S.E.2d 705 (S.C. 2007)).

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY RELIED ON THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE OPERATING AGREEMENT IN HOLDING CLAIMS 3, 4, AND 5 WERE NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION.

“When construing a contract, the best evidence of the parties’ intent is the contract’s plain language.” N. Am. Rescue Prods., Inc. v. Richardson, 769 S.E.2d 237, 240 (S.C. 2015). “If a contract’s language is unambiguous, the plain language will determine the contract’s force and effect.” Id. (citing Lee v. Univ. of S.C., 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (S.C. 2014)).

Appellant argues that language from the operating agreement illustrates that the parties intended for an arbitrator, not the court, to decide what claims are subject to arbitration. (App. Br. at 5-6). However, this argument incorrectly assumes that Respondent Charging’s claims for civil conspiracy (Claim 3) and defamation (Claim 4) were disputes one could reasonably foresee at the time he entered into the agreement. See Partain v. Upstate Automotive Grp., 689 S.E.2d 602, 605 (S.C. 2010) (holding “where the claim presented was clearly not within the contemplation of the parties, [] a court [will] decline to enforce an otherwise proper arbitration agreement.”) Under Appellant’s reasoning, any dispute that was tangentially related to the operating agreement – regardless of the involvement of a third party - would be swallowed by the arbitration provision. For example, it is not unheard of for business partners to fight over money. Under Appellant’s interpretation, if such fighting results in a physical altercation between the partners – even if it involves a third person assisting one of the partners in the fight – the resulting claim for civil assault and battery would have to go before an arbitrator for a determination it did not fall within the scope of the arbitration clause. Such an overreaching, expansive interpretation of the language in this operating agreement cannot be said to have been contemplated by the parties when entering into the operating agreement. Nor should it have. The lower court can say with “positive

assurance” that Claims, 3, 4, and 5 are not subject to arbitration, and thus, there is no need to refer the matter to an arbitrator. See South Carolina Pub. Serv. Auth. v. Great W. Coal (Kentucky), Inc., 427 S.E.2d, 22, 25 (S.C. 1993).

Moreover, the language of the operating agreement makes clear the parties intended that Claim 5 not fall within the scope of the arbitration provision. As set forth in Paragraph 12.14 of the operating agreement, “Any controversy or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, shall be settled, *except as may otherwise be provided herein*, by binding arbitration...” (emphasis added). The inclusion of this language in Paragraph 12.14 necessitates a finding that it was the parties’ intent that the arbitration provision would not automatically apply to any and all claims. If the parties had intended for the arbitration clause to apply to all claims, there would have been no reason to include language carving out an exception to the arbitration provision.

Accordingly, the ruling of the lower court should be affirmed.

II. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY FOUND CLAIMS 3, 4, AND 5 ARE NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION, BECAUSE CLAIMS 3 AND 4 ARE INDEPENDENT OF THE OPERATING AGREEMENT AND CLAIM 5 IS SPECIFICALLY EXCLUDED FROM THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.

Claims 3 and 4 are independent of the operating agreement, and therefore, are not subject to arbitration. See Simpson v. World Fin. Corp. of South Carolina, 623 S.E.2d 877, 881 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006). Claim 5 is not subject to arbitration because the plain language of the operating agreement illustrates the parties intended to carve-out such a claim from arbitration. Accordingly, the lower court’s order should be affirmed.

- a. *Claims 3 and 4 are independent torts an unforeseen by Charping; therefore, they are not subject to arbitration.*

Respondent Charping could not have foreseen that Appellant would engage in the tortious conduct underlying Respondent Charping's claims for civil conspiracy and defamation; therefore, such claims are properly outside the scope of the arbitration clause. See Partain v. Upstate Automotive Grp., 689 S.E.2d 602, 605 (S.C. 2010) (holding "where the claim presented was clearly not within the contemplation of the parties, [] a court [will] decline to enforce an otherwise proper arbitration agreement.") Contrary to Appellant's characterization of his defamatory statements, this is not a case in which one partner generically claimed another partner incorrectly pulled money from the company. (Brief at 7). Rather, Appellant sent a text message to Charping's wife – an independent third party – accusing Charping of engaging in a criminal offense and implying a report to authorities had been made. (R. 51. ¶ 51). This statement is libelous and actionable *per se*. See Folkens v. Hunt, 348 S.E.2d 839 (S.C. Ct. App. 1986) (citing Smith v. Phoenix Furniture Co., 339 F.Supp. 969, 971 (D.S.C. 1972)). This claim for defamation, Claim 3, can stand on its own, independent of the operating agreement, and thus the lower court appropriately found it was not subject to arbitration. See Simpson, 623 S.E.2d at 881.

Similarly, Charping's claim for civil conspiracy, Claim 4, is a tort independent of the operating agreement, and thus, not subject to arbitration. Appellant cannot in good faith argue this claim should be encompassed within the arbitration clause because it is patently unreasonable to expect that Charping contemplated Ludy would engage in a conspiracy with the bank – a third party entirely independent of the company - when he entered into the operating agreement. Such behavior is outrageous and not conduct Charping could have reasonably foreseen. See Partain v. Upstate Automotive Grp., 689 S.E.2d 602, 605 (S.C. 2010) (citing Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of South Carolina, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (S.C. 2007)). Accordingly, the lower court correctly held

Claim 4, as well as Claim 3, “do not implicate the parties’ contractual agreement and are not subject to arbitration.” (R. 3).

b. The plain language of the operating agreement excludes Claim 5 from arbitration.

The lower court correctly relied on the plain language of the operating agreement as the best evidence of the parties’ intent and properly held Claim 5 is not subject to the arbitration provision. See N. Am. Rescue Prods., Inc., 769 S.E.2d at 240. The plain language of Section 11 of the operating agreement clearly illustrates dissolution pursuant to Paragraph 11.1.3 is within the carve-out of exceptions to the arbitration provision in Paragraph 12.14. Specifically, Paragraph 11.1.3 plainly states that a Member seeking dissolution may do so by making application to the Court and upon entry of a judicial decree as provided by Section 33-44-810 of the Act. In the present case, Respondents have done just this and specifically cited to this Section in their request for judicial dissolution. (R. 52 ¶ 57). Accordingly, the lower court’s holding that Claim 5 is not subject to arbitration because the plain language of the operating agreement specifically requires a finding by a court should be affirmed. (R. 3-4).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondents respectfully request the Court affirm the order of the lower court.